WOOA appres SID J. WHITE NOV 16 1992 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA JERÉME COURT B١ Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner

v.

CASE NO.: 80,040

DARRIN O'NEILL MCCLAIN,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL EDWARD C. HILL, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 238041 DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL, AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, will be referred herein as either "petitioner" or "the State." Respondent, Darrin O'Neill McClain, will be referred to herein as "respondent" or by proper name. References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

An information was filed against the respondent on September 24, 1990, charging him with two counts of **robbery** with a deadly weapon. (R 272). The respondent exercised his right to a jury trial and at his trial he was found guilty of two counts of robbery with a weapon. (R 274, 275). The respondent was sentenced to four years concurrent prison on each count, adjudicated guilty and ordered to pay restitution, **a** fine, and court costs. (R 282). The respondent filed a timely notice of appeal on April 26, 1991. (**R 293**).

During voir dire of the respondent's trial, the state struck juror Smith, who is black; the appellant objected and asked that race neutral reasons be given. (R **18**). The respondent is black and the victims are white. (R **18**). The court granted the respondent's request. (R 18). The state said that it struck juror Smith because the juror questionnaire indicated that he or a relative had been accused of a crime, that the juror gave the state a "funny look," and that the juror left the U.S. Navy after 16 years of service. (R 18). The respondent's attorney then asked juror Smith several questions about the previously stated reasons. The respondent asked Smith if he had any family members **accused** of a crime. The juror said that he had a nephew that was incarcerated in Hamilton County. The respondent then asked Smith about his separation (R 19). from the Navy, and Smith said that he left the Navy due to

- 2 -

hypertension. (\mathbf{R} 20). The court found the reasons given by the state were race neutral **and** allowed the strike. (\mathbf{R} 20).

After the inquiry of the prosecutor, the record reflects there was an unreported conference at the bench. After this conference, the court noted that there were six strikes made by the respondent, and all the strikes were made against white jurors. The court asked the respondent to give **race** neutral reasons for striking the white jurors. The following discussion took place on pages 21 through **23** of the record:

> THE COURT: Now the record will reflect that there were six strikes exercised by the defendant have been all white so I'm going to -- Mr. Voorhees and you can give your reason why each of these have been stricken, Mr. France.

> MR. FRANCES: Why I struck Mr. Voorhees, I think the record should be clear that there are only two nonwhite person on this panel.

> THE COURT: All right. The record can reflect.

MR. FRANCE: Mr. Voorhees is from Cantonment. He's a **pipe** fitter and laborer, and I do not find those people to be sympathetic to **blacks** in general.

THE COURT: That strike is disallowed. That's not a race neutral reasons.

MR. FRANCE: Who is the next one?

THE COURT: The next one is Sondra Parker.

MR. FRANCE: Sondra Parker is a young woman, struck me to be very nervous on the jury here, and the victim in this case is a woman and --

THE COURT: Victim white or black?

MR. FRANCE: Victim is white. This is may be not a sex neutral reasons, but it's a racial terms.

THE COURT: That strike is disallowed. Okay. The next one will be --

MR. FRANCE: I'm sorry Glenora Johnson. She runs a convenience store **and** that has been robbed.

THE COURT: All right. That strike will be allowed.

THE COURT: All right. Let's see the next is Nancy Linhardt.

MR. FRANCE: Nancy Linhardt prior property victim.

THE COURT: All right I will allow that strike.

THE COURT: Bert Baggett.

MR. FRANCE: No particular reason, just got a feeling on him.

THE COURT: All right. That one is disallowed. Deborah Parker.

MR. FRANCE: Also because she is a woman and approximately the same age as the victim in this case.

THE COURT: That strike is disallowed.

MR, FRANCE: The court is saying they are not going to be excused as strikes?

THE COURT: That is correct.

The respondent objected to the court's denial of the respondent's peremptory challenges, (R 23). Also, the respondent **noted** that if the court had allowed the peremptory strikes then the next

person on the jury was a black woman. (R 23). The respondent moved to strike the jury panel and to **pick** a new jury. (R 26). The respondent's motion was denied. (R 28).

On appeal, the defendant raised the following two issues:

ISSUE I:

The trial court erred in accepting the State's reasons to strike a black juror as race neutral.

ISSUE II:

The trial court erred reversibly in forcing unwanted jurors onto the appellant's jury since \underline{Nell} does not apply to white prospective jurors as it does not blacks.

In its opinion the court described the defendant's position

as:

Appellant argues merely that the trial court erred in disallowing the defense's peremptory strikes because <u>Neil</u> does not apply to white prospective jurors as it does to blacks since whites are not members of a minority race.

McClain v. State, 596 So.2d 800, 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992)

The court rejected this assertion, but reversed applying a new standard. The lower tribunal held that:

When peremptory challenges are being used to strike members of the majority race, a heavy burden to establish invidious racial motivation accompanies any attempt to deny, pursuant to Neil, the striking part's right to exercise its peremptory challenges. Id. at 801.

Based on its application of this standard, the lower tribunal reversed and remanded for a new trial.

Petitioner requested rehearing and the opportunity to file a supplement brief on the issue the case was decided on. This request was denied. (order denying motion for rehearing)

Petitioner then invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this court.



SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

In issue one, petitioner asserts that this Court should quash the decision of the lower tribunal because the decision creates and applies an unconstitutional test.

Petitioner asserts that the test is unconstitutional because it denies jurors equal protection of the law and denies them their right to sit on the jury. The test improperly focuses on the limited rights of the parties to object to peremptory challenges instead of the plenary rights of the juror to be free from discrimination.

Further, the test adopted by the lower tribunal creates procedures which directly conflict with the procedures mandated by decisions of this court

Therefore, this court should reject the test promulgated below and quash the decision.

ISSUE II

In this issue, **the petitioner** asserts that the procedure employed by the lower tribunal was improper. In this case the defendant preserved a very limited challenge to the procedures employed by the trial judge. On appeal he raised the **preserved** issue. The lower tribunal raised and decided the case on an

- 7 -

issue that was unpreserved and not briefed by the parties. The lower tribunal even refused a request for rehearing or supplemental briefs on the issue. Petitioner asserts that the procedure was improper and denied the petitioner his due process right to be heard.

Therefore, this court should quash the decision of the lower tribunal.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

THE DECISION OF THE LOWER TRIBUNAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT ON THE STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO REVIEW THE USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES

In a series of cases beginning with <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Pla. 1984), this court has significantly limited the use of peremptory challenges. This line of cases which includes <u>State v. Slappy</u>, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988), holds that a peremptory challenge cannot be based on the race of the juror. This court has applied the same test regardless of the race of the defendant and without any requirement that the juror and party making the challenge be from the same racial group, <u>Kibler v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1989).

In this case, the lower tribunal departed from test enunciated in <u>Neil</u>, <u>Slappy</u>, and <u>Kibler</u>. It applied a standard it created in the case of <u>Elliott v. State</u>, **591 So.2d** 981 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), which differs from the <u>Neil/Slappy</u> test articulated **by** this court. The lower tribunal's test has two parts the first involves a determination of a majority race. The second part holds that the objecting party has an enormous burden to establish invidious racial motivation when the juror challenged is a "majority" juror.

- 9 -

There is no question that the lower tribunal created a new test when it required the objecting party to meet an "enormous" burden when challenges are directed towards members of а "majority race." This requirement is a substantial deviation from this court's test which requires the objecting party to establish only a substantial likelihood of discrimination. The lower tribunal's application of the test makes the extent of this deviation clear. In Elliott and the instant case, the lower tribunal determined that the trial court abused its discretion when it found the challenges racially motivated because the evidence of discrimination did not meet its enormous burden to show inuidious racial motivation. The court did not address factual matters in making this determination, it addressed only its new test. By creating and applying a new test, the decision of the lower tribunal expressly and directly conflicts with the Neil/Slappy/Kibler cases decided by this court and must be reversed.

The initial problem with the approach taken by the lower tribunal is the use of the amorphous term majority. This term adds needless complications to the <u>Neil/Slappy</u> test. First of all, the court does not define a "majority" race juror. Is the majority we are talking about the majority of the jurors being questioned, the majority in the venire, the majority in the community the venire is selected from, the majority in the state, the majority in the nation. What standard is to be used

- 10 -

when the juror being **excused** is a national minority historically discriminated against, yet, the juror is in the majority in the venire or the community from which the venire is selected? How is the test to work when the juror being challenged is a national "majority", yet, the juror is the only member of its race in the group of jurors **being** questioned?

This majority classification presents the first conflict with the substantial likelihood test articulated by this court. In Slappy, this Court stated:

> Deciding what constitutes a "likelihood" under <u>Neil</u> does not lend itself to precise definition. IT is impossible to anticipate and articulate the many scenarios that could give rise to the inference required by <u>Neil</u> and <u>Batson</u>. We know, that for example, number alone is not dispositive, nor even the fact that a member of the minority in question has been seated a juror or alternative.

> We nevertheless resist the temptation to craft a bright-line test. Such a rule could cause more havoc than the imprecise standard we employ today, since racial discrimination itself is not confined to any specific number of forms or effects. Instead, we affirm that the spirit and intent of *Neil* was not to obscure the issue in procedural rules governing the shifting **burdens** of proof, but to provide broad leeway in allowing parties to make a prima facie showing that a "likelihood" of discrimination exists.

<u>Slappy</u> at p. 21.

The lower tribunal's ruling has done just what this Court said should not be done, it has **created** artificial barriers which obscure the issue in procedural rules. Any attempt to apply this test will cause havoc in the jury selection process. Thus, the ruling should be quashed.

Additionally, the standard created violates basic constitutional principles found in both the United States Constitution and the Florida Constitution. As recognized in State v. Aldret, 17 F.L.W. **S592** (Fla. Sept. **24, 1992**), Florida's Constitutional right to a **fair** and impartial jury predominates over the statutory right [section **913.08** Fla. Stat. **(1990)**] to peremptory challenges. This provision protects the right of the <u>juror</u> to be free **from** racial discrimination and has been an integral part of this Court's decisions holding that Florida's Constitution prohibits the use of peremptory challenges for racial reasons. <u>Kibler</u>; <u>Jefferson v. State</u>, **595** So.2d **38** (Fla. **1992**); <u>Aldret</u>. The lower tribunal has ignored the rights of the juror and the test created violates the juror's rights recognized by these decisions.

Among the basic protections that all citizens enjoy is the right to equal protection of the laws. The equal protection clauses of both the State and Federal Constitutions precludes the creation of artificial distinctions between majority and minority jurors. It also precludes artificial distinctions based on who raises the challenge. The equal protection clauses make unconstitutional the approach of the lower tribunal which places on the objecting party an enormous burden to establish invidious racial motivation only when the juror challenged is a "majority" juror.

- 12 -

In fact, the United States Supreme Court has recently made very clear that the focus must be on the juror and not on who raises the challenge. In <u>Powers v. Ohio</u>, 499 U.S. ___, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 113 L.Ed.2d 411 (1991), the United States Supreme Court held that an individual juror possesses the right under the Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution not to be excluded from a jury on account of race. In so holding, the Court noted that the 14th Amendment mandates the elimination of race discrimination from all official acts and proceedings of the state, particularly in the judicial system. 113 L.Ed.2d at 428. The court recognized that "[t]he opportunity for ordinary citizens to participate in the administration of justice has long been recognized as one of the principal justifications for retaining the jury system." Id. at 422.

The Court stated that the parties are constitutionally entitled only to the assurance that peremptory challenges will not be exercised so as to exclude members of discrete racial groups solely by virtue of their affiliation. The United States Supreme Court subsequently expanded the holding of <u>Powers</u> in the case of <u>Georqia v. McCollum</u>, 505 U.S. ____, 112 S.Ct. 2348, 120 L.Ed.2d 33 (1992). In <u>McCollum</u>, the Court extended to the state the right to raise a defendant's **improper** use of peremptory challenges. This Court, in <u>Aldret</u>, specifically recognized the applicability of <u>McCollum</u> in the Florida. Thus, the lower

- 13 -

tribunal's test which focuses on the rights of the parties and ignores the preeminent right, the right of the juror, cannot be allowed to stand.

Furthermore, it is an elementary principle of law that the equal protection clause extends to groups other than minorities. The Fourteenth Amendment requires equal protection for all. It is not a minority protection amendment invocable only if a minority is being discriminated against. Regents of the University of California v. Bakke, 438 U.S. 265, 98 S.Ct. 2733, 57 L.Ed.2d 750 (1978); City of Richmond v. Croson, 488 U.S. 469, 109 S.Ct. 706, 102 L.Ed.2d 854 (1989). As the court said in Bakke, the guarantee of equal protection can not mean one thing when applied to one individual and something **else** when applied to a person of another color. If both are not accorded the same protection then it is not equal. 438 U.S. at 289-290. The test of the lower tribunal which singles out jurors based on race and accords them different treatment violates equal protection.

Moreover, a juror in Florida has right similar to the right afforded by the Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution conferred by Article I, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution, which states that "[a]ll natural persons are equal before the law and \dots [n]o person shall be deprived of any right because of race, religion or physical handicap." In <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 14, 17 (Fla. 1988), which foreshadowed <u>Powers</u>, the court held that the improper exclusion of a juror on **the** basis of race is invidious discrimination and cannot be tolerated within the judicial system under this section. Art. I, §2 quite obviously does not limit its strictures to actions by the prosecution, nor does it limit its protection to minority groups. Therefore, **defense** exercise of a racially motivated challenge clearly violates a prospective juror's right not to be excluded from a jury on account of race. *See*, <u>People v. Kern</u>, 75 NY.2d 638, 554 N.E.2d 1235 (N.Y. 1990). Therefore, the test of the lower tribunal which places a higher legal burden on the state when it is challenging the defendant's use of peremptory challenges against white jurors violates the state and federal constitutions,

In creating this test, the lower tribunal relied on the following language in Kibler:

A defendant of a different race than the jurors being challenged may have more difficulty convincing the trial court that "there is a strong likelihood that they have been challenged only because of their race.'' Moreover, in those cases in which the inquiry has been directed to the challenging party, the respective races of the challenged jurors and the defendant may also be relevant in the determination of whether the challenging party has met the burden of showing that **the** challenges were made for reasons not solely related to race.

This language is not authorization for the appellate courts to create new standards applicable to a <u>Neil/Slappy</u> challenge. As this Court noted in <u>Slappy</u> because of the myriad of different factual situations in which peremptory challenges are used a

bright line test is not desirable. The language in <u>Kibler</u> relied upon by the lower tribunal was directed towards the trial judge who is obligated to determine whether a strike was racially motivated. After <u>Slappy</u> was decided a prominent issue was the parameters of "a substantial likelihood". <u>Kibler</u> began the process of defining those parameters. It informed trial judges of factual matters which they could consider relevant to the determination of whether a substantial likelihood had been established. This quoted language neither established a different standard nor intimated that such a standard should be promulgated. Therefore, this court should quash the standard created by the lower tribunal.

Moreover, the lower tribunal's standard turns upside down the holding in <u>Slappy</u> in which this court stated that any doubt about whether a substantial likelihood of discrimination has been shown is to be resolved in favor of the complaining party. The <u>Elliott</u> test resolves any doubts against the complaining party. The essence of the <u>Elliott</u> test of the lower tribunal is to create an impossible burden similar to the burden imposed by <u>Swain v. Alabama</u>, **380** U.S. 202, 85 S.Ct. **824**, 13 L.Ed.2d 759 (1965), and apply it to one class of jurors. Such action cannot be allowed to stand.

Application of this standard also violates the principles enunciated in <u>Reed v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1990). In Reed, this Court held that a trial judge's determination

- 16 -

relating to the use of preemptory challenges is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. The lower tribunal ignored the reasoning of this Court in <u>Reed</u> that the trial judge is vested with broad discretion because, "only one who is present can discern the nuances of the spoken word and the demeanor of those involved." Importantly, only someone who was present would know what occurred in the unreported bench conference just prior to the judge's asking defense counsel for his reasons for using all his peremptory challenges to strike white jurors.¹

Further, the lower tribunal totally misapplies the abuse of discretion standard established by this court in <u>Canakaris v.</u> <u>Canakaris</u>, 382 So.2d 1197, 1202 (Fla. 1980). In <u>Elliott</u>, the court states:

We hold that reasonable persons could *not* arguably agree as to the propriety of the trial court's action on this point, *Files v. State*, **586** So.2d 352 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(on rehearing), and therefore reverse and remand for a new trial.

Elliott at 987.

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