DARRIN O'NEILL McCLAIN, Respondent.

v.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CASE NO. 80,040

AMIE SPIVEY ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR NO. 0850901

ISSUE II

Although the lower court's opinion seemed to acknowledge Respondent's failure to argue the issue below, Respondent did, in fact, argue the trial court wrongly conducted a <u>Neil</u> inquiry since the majority status of the challenged jurors belied a finding of a strong likelihood of discrimination. Hence, the issue was properly preserved and argued so that the First District Court of Appeals could review it.

-3-

IV ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE LOWER TRIBUNAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT ON THE STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO REVIEW THE USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES.

Petitioner asserts the lower court's reversal of <u>McClain</u> <u>v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) was based on the holding in <u>Elliott v. State</u>, 592 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). This is wrong, The First District Court said:

> In the instant case, our scrutiny of the record reveals no apparent basis for the trial judge's sua sponte institution of the initial <u>Neil</u> inquiry into the defense's exercise of the **six** peremptory challenges. Therefore, we must conclude that the defense **was** improperly denied, under the guise of <u>Neil</u>, its right to exercise peremptory challenges in a presumptively nondiscriminatory manner. Consequently, this cause is REVERSED and REMANDED for a new trial.

McClain v. State, 596 So.2d 800, 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

In order to contest the use of **a** party's peremptories, the objecting party must demonstrate on the record that 1) the struck jurors are members of a distinct racial group, and 2) that there is a strong likelihood they have been struck solely because of their race. <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481, **486** (Fla. 1984). The trial court was reversed by the First District Court of Appeals because the record did not support such a finding by the trial court. Rather, with no objection from the State, the trial judge, sua sponte, ordered this black Respondent to provide race neutral reasons for his peremptories

-4-

exercised against six white jurors. This procedure violated the plain requirements of <u>Neil</u>, thereby necessitating reversal.

Petitioner seeks to re-litigate <u>Elliott v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); <u>rev. denied</u>, 599 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1992) a case referred to in dicta by the <u>McClain</u> court and which has already been denied review by this Court. Because this was not the basis for the lower court's ruling, the merits of the <u>Elliott</u> holding are not properly before this court for review. Nonetheless, Respondent makes the following reply to Petitioner's arguments concerning that case.

Petitioner asserts that the following language contained in <u>Elliott</u> and referred to in <u>McClain</u> creates a new standard, separate, and in violation of the dictates of <u>Neil</u>, <u>State v</u>. <u>Slappy</u>, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988), and <u>Kibler v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1989):

> [W]here the peremptory challenges are being used to strike members of the majority race, the state, as the objecting or complaining party, carries an enormous burden to establish invidious racial motivation.

<u>Elliott</u>, at 986. This is not a new standard, but the same standard espoused by those cases. This is evident from the language in <u>Kibler</u>.

> [I]t is unnecessary that the defendant who objects to peremptory challenges directed to members of a cognizable racial group be of the same race as the jurors who are being challenged. This does not mean, however, that the respective races of the challenged jurons and of the person who objects to the challenges may not be relevant in the determination of whether the challenges are being unconstitutionally exercised because

of group bias. Under the procedure prescribed by <u>Neil</u>, the objecting party must ordinarily do more than simply show that several members of a cognizable racial group have been challenged in order to meet his initial burden. <u>Thus, a defendant of a</u> different race than the jurors being challenged may have more difficulty convincing the trial court that "there is a strong likelihood that they have been challenged only because of their race." (emphasis added)

<u>Id.</u>, at 712.

Hence, the respective races of the challenged jurors and the defendant **may** be relevant in determining whether the challenges are being unconstitutionally exercised. In the same manner that it would be more difficult for an objecting party to initially demonstrate bias when the challenged jurors are of a different race, so also is it more difficult to demonstrate bias when the challenged jurors represent the majority race on the venire.

Presumably then, a prosecutor would **face** more difficulty convincing the trial court that there is a strong likelihood that a black defendant's strikes of exclusively white jurors were motivated solely by race where the venire was predominately white. This is merely to express the logical converse of <u>Neil</u>. If the state's strike of all minority race jurors is evidence which tends to indicate the strike was racially motivated, then the strike of majority race jurors is not.

Petitioner asserts the relative balance of the challenged jurors' races is irrelevant and unauthorized by the opinions of

-6-

this court. In fact, the opposite is true. It is precisely the relative balance of the minority race jurors to the majority race on the venire, which gives meaning to the striking of those minority jurors. Without the racial imbalance, there would be no minority juror and the strike could not overcome the presumption of nondiscrimination.

Petitioner's argument regarding the confusion over how to define "majority race" misses the most fundamental and common-sensical foundations of the Neil, Slappy, Kibler decisions. The definition of majority race is restricted to the representation of that race on **a** given venire. Whether a particular juror's race was the majority race in the community or nation has no bearing on whether that juror was struck for racial reasons. It is the unlikely coincidence that all or some of the minority race jurors would be struck, whatever their color, which demands inquiry from the court. The Neil opinion did not give meaning to the act of striking the first three black jurors because blacks represented a minority anywhere outside of that venire. Rather, the act was sufficient evidence to prompt inquiry precisely because those jurors were a minority on that particular venire. Conversely, had blacks represented the majority of the panel in Neil, use of peremptories by the state, exclusively against blacks, would not have been sufficient evidence to require inquiry by the court. The act, by itself, would not have established a strong likelihood of racial bias.

-7-

This is the situation in <u>McClain</u> -- the black defendant's strike of only white jurors on a venire which contained only two blacks does not constitute an unusual coincidence evincing racial bias.

Petitioner seizes upon a line from <u>Slappy</u> which says, "We know, for example, that number alone is not dispositive, nor even the fact that a member of the minority in question has been seated a juror or alternative,'' for the proposition that cognizance of racial ratios creates artificial barriers. **See** "Petitioner's Brief On the Merits", p.11. To **say** that number alone is not dispositive does not dispute the fact that the relative number of jurors by race may be the key, or only evidence of racial discrimination by which to establish the initial burden as the objecting party.

Petitioner asserts that recognizing an increased burden when challengeing the strike of majority race jurors creates artificial barriers. To the contrary, establishing a set percentage or number of jurors struck, in order to meet the objecting party's initial burden, would constitute an artificial barrier in the form of a bright-line test; but, simple recognition of relative racial balances does not. The former would qualify as a new legal standard, the latter is merely observation of the facts. Consequently, the holding in <u>Elliott</u> was precisely consistent with the holdings of <u>Neil</u>, Slappy and Kibler.

-8-

Because the holdings of <u>Elliott</u> and <u>McClain</u> do not create **a** new legal standard, Petitioner's other arguments regarding their constitutional infirmity are, also, without merit.

Petitioner claims the <u>Elliott</u> holding "turns upside down the holding in <u>Slappy</u> wherein this court stated that "any doubt whether **a** substantial likelihood of discrimination has been shown is to be resolved in favor of the complaining party." "Petitioner's Brief on the Merits", p. 16. Actually, this issue may not even be addressed until the objecting party comes forward with some evidence tending to show **a** strong likelihood of racial bias, because the initial presumption is that all peremptories are non-discriminatory. Neil, supra at **486**.

Because the strike of majority race jurors may as likely be for legitimate reasons as for racially motivated ones, the act by itself does not carry the necessary burden, and so there is nothing to resolve in favor of the complaining party. If Petitioner were right on this point, the objecting party could establish his burden merely by objecting for no logical reason -- any doubt would have to be settled in favor of the objecting party, thereby doing away with the need to establish a strong likelihood of racial bias. The First District Court of Appeals was well aware of this fact when ruling upon Elliott:

> Were we to hold otherwise, based on this record, we would effectively bury the proverbial coffin to which then Chief Justice Ehrlich metaphorically alluded in his dissenting opinion in <u>Kibler</u>. There he expressed his concern that the court, in allowing a white defendant to complain of state peremptory strikes of black jurors, "for all practical purposes, is putting

> > -9-

the final nail in the coffin of peremptory challenges in criminal trials." (footnote omitted)

<u>Elliott</u>, <u>supra</u> at 986). In other words, permitting the state to establish racial bias simply by pointing out that all of the challenged jurors are of a different race, without showing that those jurors also constitute the minority race on the venire, would effectively eliminate the use of peremptaries, altogether.

Petitioner's reliance on <u>Reed v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1990) for the proposition that, the trial **judge's** violation of <u>Neil</u> procedures should not have been reversed because the **standard** of review is abuse of discretion, is pointless. Once again, the judge's discretion may only be applied **after** the complaining party carries its burden of production on the evidence. In this case, where the challenged jurors did not constitute the minority race, there was no evidence on which to **base a** discretionary ruling.

Also, of course, it was the judge, not the state, who made the objection and attempted to carry the initial burden for the state. Even if this were not a violation of <u>Neil</u> procedures, it is because the judge found a strong likelihood of racial bias in the act of striking only white jurors on **a** predominately white venire that his findings are not supported by the record, and therefore, constitute an abuse of discretion, nonetheless.

Given the racial composition of the venire, there **was** simply no **reason** to believe this act, alone, was evidence of

-10-

racial bias. This analysis is consistent with the holdings of <u>Neil</u>, <u>Slappy</u>, <u>Kibler</u> and <u>Blackshear v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1988) (elimination of every <u>minority</u> venire member constitutes a strong likelihood of racial bias).

Petitioner's argument regarding Defense Counsel's reasons as evincing blatant and pretextual bias in use of peremptories is premature. **See** "Petitioner's Brief on the Merits", p.19. The lower court decided <u>McClain</u> based on the trial judge's failure to follow the <u>Neil</u> procedure which initially presumes all peremptories to be non-discriminatory and, hence, implicitly finding a strong likelihood of race bias without record support. Consequently, the reasons given by Defense Counsel were not the basis for the reversal and have no relevance to this appeal. Nonetheless, Defense Counsel's answers to the <u>Neil</u> inquiry point-up the weakness of Petitioner's argument.

As Petitioner points out, the court correctly accepted two of the peremptories since there was evidence those jurors had previously been the victims of crimes. Of the four peremptories disallowed by the court, two involved women. Defense Counsel gave the reason, in each case, that he exercised the peremptories because the victim in this "robbery with a deadly weapon'' case **was** also a woman. It is not a racial bias to suggest that female jurors may feel more sympathy for a female victim than would male jurors. It may demonstrate a real sexual bias, but it offers absolutely no record to support a finding of <u>racial</u> bias. On the other hand,

-11-

had these two jurors also been the only white jurors on the venire, Defense Counsel's reasons may not have been satisfactory.

The same is true for the strike and reason provided in reference to Mr. Baggett:

DEFENSE COUNSEL: No particular reason, just got a feeling on him.

Had Mr. Baggett been the only white juror or, at least, had he been one of the minority race jurors as represented by the venire, this answer would be insufficient. It would not rebut the demonstrated likelihood of racial bias. But, because Mr. Baggett was **a** majority race juror, there was no demonstration of a likely bias and, consequently, nothing to rebut.

How can Petitioner possibly call such a reason "blatantly racial and pretextual?" See "Petitioner's Brief On the Merits", p. 18. This is the best reason for a peremptory challenge and underlines the nature and purpose of peremptories. Black's Law Dictionary (6th Ed. 1990) defines "peremptory challenge'' as:

The right to challenge a juror without assigning, or being required to assign, a reason for the challenge.

They are specifically to be used where the defendant cannot have the juror excused for cause. Again, if the state had already demonstrated a strong likelihood of racial bias, then this reason would not be sufficient -- it fails to rebut the charge, But, without any charge made, the reason cannot be held suspect.

-12-

Defense Counsel's reason for striking Mr. Vorhees is similarly devoid of any racial motivation. Petitioner confuses racial bias on the part of a juror with racial bias on the part of the litigating party. The former is a well accepted reason for striking a juror, the latter is not. This response is evidence of a possible racial bias on the part of the juror. Petitioner and the trial court see the reason for the strike as wholely because the juror is white, rather than because the juror is a blue collar worker with a high school education, residing in a rural area, Yet, there were many other white jurors who were not struck. Indeed, Mr. Vorhees represented the majority race on the venire. Consequently, there was no way for the trial court or Petitioner to know whether the strike was motivated by legitimate demographics or by illegitimate racial bias. One thing is clear, however; peremptory challenges are presumptively nondiscriminatory,

This points up the need to insure the objecting party has established a strong likelihood of racial bias prior to the <u>Neil</u> inquiry. This is **so** because, like the reason given for the strike of Mr. Baggett, few purely peremptory strikes will survive the inquiry. Consequently, when challenging the strike of majority race jurors, the objecting party must carry an increased burden since striking **a** majority race juror is not an unusual coincidence, regardless of that juror's color. Permitting the State to challenge peremptories simply on the basis that they are exclusively against majority race jurors, without more, would truly eliminate the use of peremptories in

-13-

the criminal justice system. Hence, this Court should affirm the ruling of the lower court.

ISSUE II

THE DECISION OF THE LOWER TRIBUNAL DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT ON THE SCOPE OF APPELLATE REVIEW.

Petitioner asserts that the district court decision is in conflict with previous decisions of this court holding that appellate courts should not address issues not raised by the parties. Respondent disagrees with the state's premise that the district court decision rests on an issue not raised.

The issue on which the district court relied for its holding was subsumed within the issue raised by Respondent, below. Petitioner's argument on this issue relies upon the opinion of the lower court which states:

Appellant argues merely that the trial court erred in disallowing the defense's peremptory strikes because <u>Neil</u> does not apply to white prospective jurors as it does to blacks since whites are not members of a minority race.

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